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Detailed Tour Outline for the Joel Lane Museum House
The following information will help you to develop your tour of the Joel lane Museum House.  It is not meant for memorization; rather, it will serve as an outline to help you understand the flow of tours through the buildings and gardens and will give you a method of presenting the historical picture of the past represented at the Joel Lane Museum House.  Key points will appear as bolded items, followed by supporting information.  Please do not try to include all of this information in your tours.  Try to evaluate the needs and interests of your audience and structure your tour accordingly. Generally, children are more interested in what life was like in the 18th century than the history or Joel Lane’s accomplishments, so for them you can boil it down to two dates: 1771 (a palindrome and  “Father” of Wake County, and 1792 and a “Father” of Raleigh.  Adults are interested in the history: men are especially interested in the architectural details and women in the lives of the individuals who lived here. Please remember that it is OK not to be able to answer every question; it is much preferable to say, “I don’t know” than to make up what seems to be a plausible answer.
On the porch of the Visitors Center or in the Visitors Center, welcome visitors.   Collect admission fees.  Begin the tour in the gardens, or for school groups, in another location as directed by the Curator. 
Note: The house was restored in the 1970s to its appearance in about 1793 to 1794 when Joel Lane remodeled it.  However, he and his family lived in it from about 1769 to his death in 1795, so the topics we discuss will cover that time frame. 
Also, notes on the individual furniture pieces are in the drawers in each room if a guest has a question about a specific item.

Fire extinguishers are on every level of the house: in the bathroom office the office, in the closet under the stairs in the back passage, and in the windowsill behind the bed in the east upstairs bedchamber.  In the “Kitchen” one is on the stairs and one is behind the door. In the Visitors Center, one is in the hallway to the north door. First aid kits are in the bathroom off the office in the Museum and in the cupboard under the sink in the interior bathroom in the Visitors Center.

· Welcome to the Joel Lane Museum House.  The house is Raleigh‘s oldest home and was built by Joel Lane sometime in the early 1770s.  Joel Lane was a prominent politician and statesman, and it is because of his importance in the early history of our area that his home was saved. He is best known for selling 1,000 acres to the State of NC in 1792 as the location for the permanent capital city.
· Joel Lane was born around 1739/40 in present day Halifax County in eastern NC near the Virginia border.  At that time, the region was more urban than it is now and the area to which he moved (present day Raleigh and Wake County) was considered rural and backcountry.  He was appointed sheriff in Halifax at the age of about 21, and at about age 23 he married Martha Hinton, who was from this area.  At about age 30, he and Martha moved from Halifax here, to what was then Johnston County. It was rural back country at the time, so he built his home and many outbuildings and began farming. He called his home and the land around it a manor plantation; plantation is an 18-century term for a farm that has loaded connotations for many people. The landscape in his time looked very different from how it appears today. For groups that include children, you may ask what was different then from now. 
GARDENS and the landscape

· The main garden was designed in the 1970s to resemble an English garden rather than a farmyard so it is not authentic!  A landscape architect from Colonial Williamsburg, Donald Parker, based the design on the letters of a Frenchman, CJ Sauthier, who worked as a mapmaker in North Carolina for the Royal Governor Tryon in the 1760s. Sauthier drew formal gardens like ours in his descriptions of the places he visited.  Scholars now think he made it all up.  Perhaps he was trying to impress the people back home.

· In Joel Lane’s day, the yard near the house would have been bare earth swept daily to keep weeds and pests down. 

· The inventory of JL’s possessions taken after his death suggests that there were other small outbuildings on the property to house all of the activities necessary to support a busy plantation. Careful study of the inventories provides evidence for barns for equipment and carriages, a dairy, slave quarters, a tavern, a smoke house to smoke and preserve meat, a smith’s shop, a tool shed, a weaving house, and a spring house as being on the plantation. The Sanborn insurance map of 1909 shows a stable for the animals.

· Tradition states that the slave quarters were located where Saint Mary’s School is today (two blocks north of here) but no archaeology has been done to prove or disprove that theory. Some visitors ask why the quarters were so far away—didn’t the Lanes want to keep an eye on the enslaved population? There are many possible answers: given the size of the plantation, it really was not far away; the relationship between the settlers and the enslaved was often not a close one; enslaved quarters in the 18th century were more distant from the big house than in the 19th century.  In this period, the enslaved peoples’ houses were grouped more like an African village than in the orderly rows of the quarters of the 19th century.

· Other necessary elements of a successful farm include pastures for the horses, cows, pigs and sheep that were raised here and fields of crops. Most of the enslaved people who lived here worked the fields growing food to eat and raised the cows, pigs, and sheep for making clothing and to eat.  The chief crops were apples and corn. (This assertion is based on the crops listed in the inventory at the time of Lane’s death in 1795.) Corn served as food for the enslaved and as fodder for the animals; apples could be dried or made into cider or jam. They may have also grown fibers such as flax and cotton, but we have no direct evidence of their existence on the plantation. The cotton gin, a machine for removing the seeds from cotton, was not invented until 1793, so it was not economically feasible to grow large quantities of cotton prior to that time. However, cotton fabric was imported from India and purchased by the wealthy. Tobacco was not grown this far south in the 18th century—burley tobacco in use at the time did not tolerate our poor soils. Water came from a spring house at the bottom of the hill (down present day Hargett Street near where the railroad tracks cross Hargett and named on William Christmas’s map of 1792).  It was most likely a stone structure which would pool the water from a natural spring so that the Lanes would have access to relatively clean, fresh, cool water.

· The current gardens reflect the types of plants that Joel Lane might have had access to.  Point out the fruit trees: pomegranates, apples, pears, grape vine (muscadine grapes), and fig bush. Fruits were important not only fresh and as jams, but also to ferment into beverages for the home and tavern. 

· Our herb garden would been a larger kitchen garden that included herbs and vegetables like peas, beans, and squash.  Caring for this garden was Mrs. Lane’s responsibility. Her kitchen garden would not have had the gravel paths and beds with wooden edging.  Herbs were grown for practical reasons: examples: for medicine (comfrey), insecticides (tansy), cooking (rosemary), food (parsley), strewing (putting in the room corners to help with odors: lavender), dyes (ajuga), and soap (soapwort).

MIDDLE CLASS HOME -- not a “Kitchen”
· This structure is a middle class home dating from about 1790. It was not originally on Lane’s plantation, and it was not a solely used as a kitchen.  It was moved here in 1979 from near Ray Road in northern Wake County where Falls Lake is today. (You may show pictures of it in original location. They are on the chair.) The roof, siding, and chimney were replaced, but except for a few repairs, the rest of the structure dates from about 1790.  It was not a kitchen building or slave quarters.  Those buildings most often were built right on the dirt and as a result often fell down or were destroyed by termites within 20 to 30 years. In addition, humbler dwellings would have a ladder for access to the second story, not this elaborate staircase with paneling, chamfered (beveled) edges on the post, beads on the handrail, and beading on the ceiling joists.  Therefore, this building was a middle (middling) class home. It is representative of how average people lived during the late 18th century.  When compared to Joel Lane’s house, it offers a good contrast between the dwellings of upper and middle class families of the 1700s.  Lower classes would have had houses even smaller, with logs for walls and dirt floors.  Many enslaved people’s cabins would have been about the same size but may have housed as many as two or three families in the small space.
· When used as a home, the large fireplace would have been used for both cooking and for heating.  They would have cooked in the house during the winter, but during the hot summer, they might have cooked outside. 
· Joel Lane’s original kitchen did not survive but this building is the approximate size of a kitchen on a plantation of the size of Joel Lane’s and looks similar to how a kitchen might have looked.  The Lane family’s meals might have been prepared in a kitchen similar to this building by enslaved women using open hearth cooking techniques.  The cook kept a log burning day and night, since starting another fire was a difficult job (no matches!). Most of the pots and utensils were made of iron with handles long enough to allow the cook to stay at a safe distance from the fire.  A kitchen like this also might have been the headquarters for other tasks done by the enslaved workers, such as making soap and candles and preserving foods. We have the spinning wheels here because we don’t have a separate building to house them as Joel Lane may have had.
· The kitchen of a plantation with slaves may have been separate from the big house because of the danger of fire, and the heat and odor.  Racism may also have been a factor.  On a summer day, the temperature in the kitchen may have easily reached 120 degrees or more.
· Other larger plantation houses of this period in Virginia and South Carolina have kitchens in the basements.
· Most of the small items in here are from the 19th century but made in the 18th-century manner or are reproductions.  The flax wheel is thought to be 18th century. 
· Other items of interest:
· Bee skep (where bees lived.  Kept on a shelf out of doors)
· Long handled pans
· Crane and trammel (for placing the pot over the fire and for raising or lowering it to change the temperature)
· Trivets and spider legs on pans allow cooking over coals on the hearth

· The smaller wheel is a flax wheel and the larger is a walking wheel for wool (the spinner stood and walked backwards as she spun); flax, raw wool (lighter in color) and carded and dyed wool (darker in color); cotton—not grown in large quantities because hand picking seeds and bolls was un-economic; the cotton gin for removing seeds by machine was not invented until 1793. Tobacco also not grown in this part of the NC at this time; our soils are too poor; it was grown in the counties that border Virginia. There is no evidence that JL grew tobacco. 
· In the corner cupboard: blue and white Canton china from China made for the export market; English made pewter; red dirt dishes made from red clay could have been locally made.

· Iron laundry pot and wooden scrub bucket 

JOEL LANE’S HOME: 
How the Lanes used the rooms in the house during Lane’s life time is unknown.   Some historic homes can piece together the layout of the furniture from the inventory taken after the owner’s death because scholars have realized that some inventories were recorded as the Executor moved from room to room.  Our inventory is not that detailed, so we are using research from other similar homes in the South during the period to provide our best guess as to how the rooms were used. 
HALL
· We are in the “big house.”  Joel Lane was considered wealthy, and his home was much nicer and larger than most in this area.  It was declared “the finest house within 100 miles.” Note the plastered walls, the paint on the woodwork (paint was expensive), the mantel over the fireplace which is purely decorative and is a replica of one from a nearby plantation of the period, and the large size of the room compared to the middle class home. 
· Joel Lane moved to this area around 1769 and immediately became involved in local politics.  (A poster with a few of his accomplishments can be found in the room.)
· Joel Lane was elected to represent Johnston County in 1770 at the Colonial Assembly in New Bern, even when he had probably only lived here for a year!  His brother Joseph already lived here, had married into a prominent local family, and had been appointed sheriff of Johnston County in 1768 so he may have eased Joel’s way in a new place.

·  Joel Lane worked to advocate for local interests while in the Assembly.  He introduced a bill to create a new county in this area.  It is not clear who proposed the name “Wake” in honor of the Governor’s wife, Margaret Wake Tryon.  Perhaps it was Governor Tryon who was the royal governor of the colony of NC at that time. In 1771 Wake County was created, and the county seat was situated close to Joel Lane’s home, possibly near the modern day intersection of Boylan and Hargett Streets or even just next door to his home at the back door of the white brick home across Saint Mary’s St. from the Visitors Center. (We are awaiting possible proof of location, 8/2011.) Two different plaques in the neighborhood boast of knowing the location.
· Soon sentiments supporting the Revolutionary War began to spread through the colonies.  Joel Lane, at first, appeared to want to find a way to reconcile the colonists’ differences with those of the crown.  Nevertheless, he realized that was impossible and wholeheartedly supported the war effort as a member of the Committee of Safety, a body of local men who organized the militia and met during emergencies.  In August 1776, a month after the Declaration of Independence was signed, the Council of Safety, the provincial organization whose members were the executive officers of the colony when they were in session, met at Lane’s plantation to discuss the war.  It is for that meeting that the room is set up with copies of the Declaration and writing utensils. 
After the Revolutionary War, with independence won, Joel Lane helped with the formation of the new United States, most notably serving as a delegate from Wake to NC’s Constitutional Convention that approved the US Constitution in 1789.  This act made North Carolina part of the United States.  
· He then served as a state Senator from Wake County for 13 one-year terms from 1782 to 1795 except for 1793. 
· These activities place Joel Lane in the forefront of our regional heritage. One of the most important things that happened was in 1792 when commissioners appointed by the General Assembly of the State of NC decided to build the first permanent capital on Lane’s land. New Bern was the seat of government from 1766 to 1792 and, being on the coast, it was difficult to access for most people in the state.  Also, New Bern was vulnerable to attack by the sea and was occupied throughout a large portion of the Revolution by British forces.  The Assembly knew that the new capital must be easily defensible.  Therefore, a new permanent capital needed to be centrally located.  There was much debate within the General Assembly because many regions wanted to host the new state capital, with Fayetteville and Hillsborough in the forefront. 

· A decision was made, however, by the 1788 Constitutional Convention that the new state capital would be located in Wake County within 10 miles of Isaac Hunter’s Tavern (a well-known landmark near two major roads).  In 1792, the General Assembly selected a commission of men to choose the site within that 10 mile radius.  Those men traveled to Hunter’s Tavern, which was located near modern-day Wake Forest Road, just outside the Beltline and was torn down after 1979.  The commissioners then proceeded to Joel Lane’s house where they stayed for two weeks while they considered 17 plots of land that were for sale in the area.  After they reviewed many of the sites, they decided to take a vote.  Their first two votes were inconclusive, and they decided to adjourn for the day and vote again the next morning. The next morning’s vote was five in favor of the property offered by Joel Lane and one in favor of John Hinton’s (his father-in-law’s) property. Col. Hinton’s land was 6 miles east of here on the Neuse River, which one might think would be a great place for a city.  However, the Neuse was not navigable and Lane’s land had numerous springs that could be used for water. Many stories about Lane’s powers of persuasion are still told, but we do know that Lane had a reputation for being an excellent politician who had at least one friend among the commissioners. 
· As for the rest of Joel Lane’s story, he died in 1795, and five days later his wife died. He had written his will in October of 1794 and indicated that he wanted his son, Thomas, who was 10 years old at the time of his father’s death, to inherit the house and the land immediately around it, with the provision that Lane’s wife would use the property until the child was 21.  (Women typically did not inherit land.) When Mary Lane died just five days later, a guardian was appointed to take care of the estate for the child.  The Executor of the will sold the contents of the estate at auction and rented the house. In 1809, Thomas sold the house to Allen Gilchrist, husband of his sister, Dorothy, who sold it out of the family in about 1813.  
· Because of the sale of the estate, we don’t have many original pieces.  We do have a list, or inventory, of the items sold.  Most things on the list appear to have come from the tavern, outbuildings (indications are that there was a weaving house, smokehouse, blacksmith shop, dairy), pastures and stables. We have few details on what was actually in the house while Joel Lane lived there. We have furnished the house with items from the period using the best available information on 18th -century southern upper class houses. Therefore, almost everything in the house (except the chairs in the Hall which are very good reproductions) is of the period, but not original to the house. (The only items that may be original to the house are the desk, which is on loan to us, and possibly the chair at the desk.)
· The house was restored between 1970 and 1976 to its current appearance, which is as it would have appeared during Joel Lane’s lifetime after he remodeled it circa 1793-94.  The second story roof line was changed from gable to gambrel making the upstairs rooms larger. Most of the woodwork is original, except for the two mantels downstairs.  They are reproductions of mantels typical of homes of this period in North Carolina.
· Traditionally, the front room of a colonial home was used as a multipurpose room.  It would have been used for dining, meeting, dancing, sleeping, and many other activities.  Joel Lane hosted many important meetings in this room, called the Hall, including the first session of the Wake Court and meetings of the General Assembly during the Revolution.
More on Joel Lane as a politician and businessman:

· Joel Lane was very involved in politics.  He served in the Colonial Assembly in 1770, probably just a year after he arrived here, on the local Committee of Safety, as a delegate to both Constitutional Conventions, and as a state senator for thirteen terms.  The legislation he introduced indicates that he was forward thinking: In February 1773, he introduced a bill banning the “willful and malicious killing of slaves” which survived three readings but was denied by Governor Martin and not enacted.  He introduced a bill banning hunting at night by torch light and another aimed at reducing overfishing in streams.
· Joel Lane had a short-lived appointment as Lieutenant Colonel in the militia, but there is no evidence that he ever bore arms.  He was appointed Distributor of Salt after the Battle of Moore’s Creek Bridge. (Salt was confiscated from Loyalists and was extremely valuable due to the trade embargo—it was an essential commodity for food preservation.) His appointment to this position indicates the esteem and trustworthiness accorded him.  
· Joel Lane supported the ideals of what became the Revolution through his actions in the General Assembly.  He introduced legislation for regulation of salaries of state and county officials and voted against bills which would have reduced local powers.  These actions placed him firmly in support of the Regulators (an Alamance County group of men who protested heavy taxes and high fees, leading to a series of near-riots) even though he never admitted to being a member of that group.
Joel Lane and his Tavern

· Joel Lane clearly was resourceful.  As a member of the commission to select a site for the new county court house, he was probably instrumental in their decision to identify part of this plantation as the court house site.  
· He applied for a license to sell spirituous liquors, which he was granted in 1771.  In 1777, there were a number of ordinaries in the area. He received a license for a tavern in 1794, and operated an ordinary or tavern on his plantation until his death. 

· The court house was under construction in 1771, and the court met “at Joel Lane’s” that year, a vague reference that some take to mean that it met in his house. In any event, he did serve on the Wake County Court of Common Pleas and Quarter Sessions from June 1771 until his death.

·  New research indicates that it is unlikely that a tavern was operated in this house which we cannot prove was completed before 1770.  In any event, the house would not have been large enough to accommodate both his growing family and such a business. 

Items of interest:
· Copy of Declaration of Independence—Council of Safety may have been looking it over
· Copy of US Constitution—JL was a delegate to the 1789 convention in Fayetteville that ratified the Constitution
· Copies of court documents signed by JL as court justice of: 1. an indenture bond for an orphan to be indentured to a farmer and 2. an apprentice bond for an orphan to be apprenticed as a carpenter or joiner  
· Downstairs floor boards are not original but are thought to date from 1800.  These are of tongue and groove construction. The ones upstairs are original and abut one another; they are not tongue and groove.
· China press came from the Hinsdale auction in 1971 and is said to have come down through the Lanes to the Hinsdale family
· Coin silver serving spoon in the China press has initials MH said by a descendant to be for Mary or Martha Hinton, circa 1820. Marked S&H Gerould on reverse.
· Creamware or Queensware is very fine china made in Leeds, England. The salt-glazed cream colored stoneware is Staffordshire.
· Blue and white china is mostly Chinese export from Canton. Blue & white tall vases and charger are Delft from Holland.
Ask for questions.  You might get questions about his family, why a young son inherited the house, etc.  Records indicate that Joel Lane gave his two eldest sons land as they matured. On his death, he willed his remaining land to them and to his 3 youngest sons.  His daughters received enslaved people and household goods, but no land, as was typical of the time.
FRONT PASSAGE:

Note the construction of the house with high ceilings, large double doors and windows, all designed and built for ventilation. Also note that the front and rear doors were built opposite one another to catch breezes.  Discuss other topics such as the floor cloth (ANY floor coverings were owned only by a small wealthy percentage of the population; floor cloths were sometimes made from used sails), the lamp (called a smoke bell lamp), and the piece of Plexiglas in the corner that covers a sample of what the walls look liked prior to restoration.  (There were two plaster ceilings installed after Joel Lane’s occupancy that covered the beaded ceiling joists; in 1941 the paint was removed from the walls with a belt sander by young people employed by the National Youth Administration to learn carpentry skills.  Girls were hired by the NYA to learn sewing and worked in what is now the Visitors Center.)  You may also note that the very existence of a passage is illustrative of Joel Lane’s relative wealth and that only the gentry (landed) classes of people used the front doors. The partition walls to either side of the Passage could function as barriers to entry to the other more formal (Hall) and familiar (Parlor) areas of the house. 

Other items of interest
· Keeper (bar) to lock the door (No Indians at this point; they had all been removed)

PARLOR:

· The parlor was used for more private, social activities. The word parlor comes from the French word parler, to chat. After meals, the gentlemen might stay in the Hall for drinks and smoking while discussing “affairs of state,” and the ladies might retire to the parlor for tea and conversation.  If there is an interest in the tea set and the customs that surround tea, discuss those at this time.
· Each main room in this house has a fireplace.  The box in the ceiling above the fireplace contains bricks from the hearth of the fireplace upstairs—it is very important to avoid stepping on the hearths upstairs since they will not support your weight. We do not know why there are two different colors on the ceiling—you can speculate that perhaps the fireplace smoked, therefore, anticipating this, Lane may have left it unpainted.  Another speculation is that this room may have served as their “winter room.” Since it is smaller that the Hall, it would have been easier to heat.  People of the time often had one room in their houses that was used for most activities, except sleeping, during the cold winter months.  Again the ceiling may have been covered with smoke and soot in the area closest to the fireplace.  We do know that researchers believe the ceiling was painted this way throughout the occupation of the house by the Lanes. 
· Important papers were kept in a box that came to be known as a Bible box. In ours is a Lane family Bible belonging to Joel’s third son, William. It dates from 1831 and was given to us by a descendant from Texas who took a tour in 1988 and afterwards sent it to us.  Births of Lane children and marriages and deaths of Lanes and others are hand-written in it and are also posted on our web site for descendants to use in trying to make connections to our Lanes. 924 pages, printed in Lunenburg, Massachusetts, published and sold by Edmund Cushing, 1831
Other items of interest
· Tea brick compressed the tea for ease of shipping and to preserve flavor.
· Tea cups have no handles. Could be drunk from the saucer.
· Books were expensive and rare; most people who owned a book owned just the Bible. Joel Lane owned some books; titles unknown.
· Tea caddy has a lock because tea was expensive

· Candied fruits and small tarts for tasting with tea

· Case clock now called grandfather clock because of a song from 1895 that referred to Grandfather’s clock that was too large for the shelf. The name stuck.
· Candles whose light is reflected in the mirror

·  Punch bowl

· Draughts (pronounced drafts) set, similar to modern day checkers.
· Clay pipe (reproduction—they did not know about germs; pipes broke often because they are so fragile NOT because they broke off a piece after smoking)

· Map of US in 1795
· Local Chippendale mahogany table (used as tea table) from the Hinsdale collection; itemized as a Lane family piece, said to have belonged to Polly (Mary Hinton) Lane, Henry’s wife.
Ask for questions.  
DOWNSTAIRS BEDCHAMBER:

· This room is interpreted as sleeping quarters for Col. & Mrs. Lane or for their guests, depending on the accommodation needs of travelers or those attending political meetings in the area. Guests may have included the commissioners who selected the site for the new state capital and Herman Husband, an Alamance County Regulator who stayed. (This Curator believes based on research about houses in the era that this house was too small and too many people lived in it for a bed chamber to be designated as a “guest” room. Research on the topic indicates that early in the 18th century, the married couple would have had their bed in and slept in as well as entertained family and friends in the parlor; as the century progressed and people became more refined, they would have moved the bed to a downstairs chamber.  Even later in the century as homes became larger, the marital bed moved upstairs. See bibliography for more on this topic.)
· Joel Lane associated with major figures at each end of the political spectrum, apparently without consequence.  In May 1771, Governor Tryon visited Wake Court House while he was on his way to Alamance Creek to suppress the efforts of the Regulators. Three months prior to this visit on the night on February 13, 1771, Lane had extended his hospitality to Herman Husband, the architect of the Regulator protests and the governor’s arch-rival.  Husband had been a thorn in the side of the royal government, which used every opportunity to have him arrested, so any contact with him was dangerous.  Thus, Lane seems to have been at least neutral in the conflict, if not supportive of the Regulators.
· Life on a plantation was very different from today and daily tasks were very time-consuming compared to today. Many items used every day had to be made by hand. For example, think about the textiles that make up the bedding and how many people had to have clothing and bedding on the whole plantation. (The cloth for furnishings like the ones on this bed would have been imported.)  There were thirty enslaved people on the plantation in the will of 1794 and 32 in the inventory of 1795 who had to be provided with at least two sets of clothes per year (wool for winter and linen for summer), in addition to provisions for the Lane family.  That figure translates into a minimum of sixty sets of clothes that had to be made on the plantation every year by the enslaved people and the Lane ladies just to clothe the enslaved, not including extra blankets, sheets, diapers, towels, etc.  The estate inventory lists furniture and several references to spinning and weaving equipment (flax wheels, cotton wheels, and woolen wheels), enough to accomplish the job. This would have been Mrs. Lane’s responsibility, in addition to other jobs such as supervising the domestic enslaved people (for example, cooks in the kitchen), maintaining the kitchen garden, and teaching the children to read and write.  
· Remember that Mrs. Lane was either pregnant or nursing a baby during her entire life because a new child was born every two or two and a half yearsNot only was life hectic for women with all of the chores necessary to survive but also medicine wasn’t as advanced as it is now to deal with complications.  In addition, women were expected to work throughout their pregnancies in heavy clothes and extremes of heat and cold, and care for all the needs of their families and enslaved people. 
· Other topics for the room can include:
· Door to the rear passage was a later addition (Important because the wall separated the bed chamber from those in the rear passage.)
· Wick trimmers (scissor snuffers)
· Leather travel case
· Baby cradle was used for rocking the baby in day time; he/she slept with the mother at night.
· Mosaic Brooch (pronounced broach) from Lane family. Oval with gold twist edge and rose and flowers. Exact owner unknown, although we know it did not belong to Martha or Mary—may date to the 1860s, possibly Italian in origin. Willed to us by a Hinton descendant.
· Red coat is a reproduction of Continental musician soldier’s during the Rev War, not a British officer
· Tri-corn hat was used by military; hats with unfurled brims were used by civilian gentlemen
REAR PASSAGE
· Enslaved people who lived on the plantation:  We have three lists of the names of the enslaved who lived on Lane’s plantation.  The first list of five names includes those whom Joel Lane purchased in Halifax before he moved to Johnston (later Wake) County.  Flora was 14 years old when he purchased her. The second purchase we know of of four men was highly unusual because they were so expensive.  Even George Washington generally only purchased on enslaved person at the time.
· The second list is from his will of October 1794.  In it he listed 30 enslaved names and the family members whom he wanted to inherit them.  The first seven family names are his minor children and the last is his wife Mary.  Mary inherited the greatest number, and she died five days after Joel.  Most of the enslaved people left to Mary were sold after her death. 
· The third list includes 32 names.  This list is from the inventory of Joel Lane’s estate taken in 1795 after his death.  The people’s names are listed right along with the beds and the farm animals because they were held as chattel slaves, Lane’s personal property. 
· In 1794, Joel Lane paid the poll tax on 17 black polls. This means that 17 of the 30 enslaved people on the plantation were between the ages of 16 and 50.  The other 13 were either too old or too young to be taxable.
· Enslaved people living on a plantation at this time held three different types of jobs: working in the fields with the crops or animals, in the house taking care of the master and his family, or as artisans, such as blacksmith, cooper, or joiner.  Joel Lane did not indicate who held which jobs. 
· Details on individual enslaved people held by Joel Lane:
· Flora: Joel purchased her in Halifax County on 20 Oct 1763 from a man named Joseph Lane (who may not have been Joel’s father) for 60 pounds.  She was just 14 years old. [The price is hard to put into today’s dollars, but 2 years later he bought 300 acres of land for 50 pounds.  (Copy of deed of purchase is on the table in the rear passage.) Young women of child bearing age were quite valuable.]
· Dick, Jack, Stanter, and Young Sam: Joel purchased them in Halifax County on 5 May 1765 from William Pullam for over 129 pounds. 
· Ceazor: Joel sold him in Wake County on 13 Dec. 1792 to Frederick Harget for over 76 pounds. 
· David: After our Joel died, another Joel sold David for 100 pounds to George Nance on 18 Mar 1799
· Ned, Archer, Cate, Susannah, David, Munford: Listed in Mary Lane’s estate inventory on 19 Dec. 1799. Ned, Archer, and Cate were willed to Mary in Joel’s will.
· Sucky (131 pounds), Cate, David, Munford (272 pounds for all 3), Archer (194 pounds), and Ned (200 pounds): Sold from Mary Lane’s estate to Dugald McKethan (husband of Joel’s daughter, Martha) in Jan. 1800.
· Cate and her 2 children David and Montford were sold by Nathaniel Lane (who is said to have bought them at Mrs. Lane’s estate sale) on 22 Nov 1800 to John Haywood for $450 Spanish milled dollars.
· Frederick (was willed to Elizabeth “Betsy” Lane in 1795 by Joel; she married Stephen Haywood): 8 Aug 1799 Stephen Haywood sold Frederick to Rodham Atkins for $350. 19 June 1800 Atkins sold Frederick to Hogg & Adams, merchants, for 200 pounds. This last document refers to Frederick as “mulatto.”
· Jimboy: Property of Thomas Lane (by his father’s will) hired out by T’s guardian Nathaniel Lane for over 30 pounds equal to $61 for one year on 8 Jan 1800 to Joseph Carr and John Frein.  The hirers are to supply Jim boy with: “for the spring One pair of trousers, one 

Shirt of osnabriggs, for the Winter one dutch 

Blanket, one Hat, one Jacket one pair of 

Breeches of Negro Cotton one pair of good yarn 

Stockings or Boots and one pair of shoes 

suitable for the Winter Season one shirt 

of osnabriggs for the Winter Season”

· Jeffrey: Willed by Joel to Thomas, hired out for over 30 pounds 8 Jan 1805 by Wm illegible and Williams Lane.  Very similar list of clothing as above to supply with the addition of “one pair of good double sole shoes.” [Copy of hiring record is on table in rear passage.]
· Cloe: willed by Joel to Thomas and sold when she was age 23 by Thomas 20 June 1807 for $333 1/3 to William Shaw.

OFFICE
· The desk in this room may have been used by Joel Lane in his home office, which may have occupied this room. It is at a desk like this that he conducted plantation business and perhaps had meetings with friends and political associates. Joel Lane probably spent much of his time serving as overseer of the plantation and fulfilling political obligations.  The desk is on loan to us from a descendant and may have been in the house when Joel Lane lived here.  It is very similar to the one that his son Henry purchased after Joel’s death and took to what became the Mordecai house. (You may show the picture of the two desks and ask the visitor to decide if they think the one here was Joel’s.)
· Joel also managed his ordinary or tavern operations and political and personal correspondence, in addition to supervising up to 32 slaves who worked in many capacities on the plantation.  People visiting Lane on business may have entered the rear of the house and waited in this area to meet with him. 

· The desk is an important symbol of the power that a well-to-do planter held over his minor children, his wife, the enslaved people he held, and all of his property.  It also symbolizes the fact that reading and writing was crucial to what he did. During an estate sale after Joel Lane’s death, Henry Lane, Joel’s eldest son, purchased a similar desk for £16.00.  (For comparison purposes, several beds and furniture (meaning bedding and bed clothes) sold between £16 and £20, a sorrel mare for £ 26, a bay horse for £60, and one yoke oxen and yoke for £20.) The desk that Henry bought can be seen at Henry’s home, the Mordecai House, northeast of the Capitol. This desk, as well as the one at Mordecai, is of superior craftsmanship and style and indicates that Joel Lane acquired at least one fine furnishing for his home. 
· Joel Lane served as Register of Deeds for Wake County, and he provided a room on his plantation for a county office. He received three pounds annually from the public treasury for its use.  Its proximity to the rear entry would allow those who were not of the gentry class, such as tradespeople, to enter the house and have direct access to him in his office for business dealings. 
· He acted as a land agent and purchased land for other people. He was also an Intaker for Patents.

More on Joel Lane as a businessman

· Joel Lane did not own large tracts of land until 1778 when he purchased several tracts of land that had been confiscated from Loyalists and dissenters. One of these tracts included the 1,000 acres that would later become the permanent state capital.   Most of the documents from Joel Lane’s pen that survive discuss land transactions and politics.  
Other items of interest

· Gorget, symbol of rank for an officer, photo on chair of a young Geo Washington wearing one; Lane was a Lt. Col. in the Wake County militia.

· Pipe tamper shaped like a feather to tamp down tobacco in a pipe
· Sanders contained pounce which was a very fine sand used for drying ink on paper
· Windsor Armchair, straightforward, business like chair found in Wake County, said to belong to one of Joel Lane’s sons.  The broad crest rail relates this chair to the tablet-back Classical or Greek Revival chairs of the 1820s and 1830s.  circa 1820-1840
· Black Bamboo Windsor Chair from Hinsdale auction 1770, may have been in the Lane house since associated with the family.
UPSTAIRS LANDING

· Joel Lane apparently remodeled his house changing the upstairs roof line from gable to gambrel, probably in 1793-94 after he sold the land to the State.  We can see changes that were made in the original construction by looking at the clipped corners of the door frames in this area.  
· Blanket chest here may have served double duty as sleeping quarters for an enslaved person, or he/she may have slept on the floor.
WEST BED CHAMBER  
· (Chart lists children’s names, birth years, and whether we know anything else about them.) Joel Lane was married to two sisters. He first married Martha Hinton and had three children.  Martha died in 1771, possibly during childbirth, the leading cause of death among women. The following year, Joel married her younger sister, Mary, with whom he had nine children. Mary was 10 years younger than Martha.  On average, a new child was coming into the household every two years.
· The oldest child, Henry, was 29 when the youngest was born; the older children were most likely married and out of the house by the time the youngest babies were coming into the house. All we know about two of Mary’s children, Mary & Nancy, is their birth dates. They were not listed in the will, so they may have died young.  In 1795, the three oldest sons were over the age of 21.  Henry and James had been given land. (The Mordecai House is built on land given to Henry by his father.) We can’t document that William no longer lived at home, but the 1790 census lists two boys under the age of 16, 2 males over 16, and 5 females of which Mrs. Lane was one.  That may mean the other six children slept upstairs. (The baby would have slept with her parents.)
· Joel Lane believed in education and supported improvements to the state’s educational system at a time when it ranked low on the political agenda.  In 1770, he introduced a bill to establish an academy in Edenton.  We don’t know what kind of education he had, but probably either he attended an old field school or was taught by a tutor hired by a group of planters.

· Boys were called scholars and learned Reading, Writing, Ciphering, Geography, Navigating, Surveying, Accounting, Latin, and Greek.  There was an old field school in the New Light Township in northern Wake County during Joel Lane’s lifetime, but there is no evidence that his boys attended it.  During this period, mothers were their children’s first teachers.

·  Other topics for discussion:

· Sleep tight; don’t let the bedbugs bite

· Boys clothes

· Hornbook

· Toys

· Slate

EAST BED CHAMBER 
· Schooling for girls consisted mainly of learning household duties such as cooking, sewing, spinning, knitting, and raising vegetables, though their mothers taught them to read and write so that they could read the Bible.  
· At this point, for children’s tours, ask what room is missing when they compare this house to their own. Discuss chamber pot and “necessaries.” If there were no servants, it was the youngest child’s duty to empty the chamber pot in the morning.  Joel Lane’s estate inventory listed 4 chamber pots; family members had to share!
· The bed and its hangings: a full set of hangings in winter for warmth and mosquito netting in the summer with the bed between the windows to catch breezes. 
· Other topics for discussion:
· Fans (sometimes printed with lessons as our compass fan which has moral lessons such as “Prudence Produceth Esteem”)
· Dental hygiene
· General hygiene (baths were few)
· Rag dolls
· Finger vases are reproductions; similar ones for sale in the gift shop
· Walnut chest said to have belonged to Mary Hinton Lane, Joel’s 2nd wife. 1780
· Brass sconces possibly belonged to Col. John Hinton
More on Joel Lane and his family:
· Having grown up in the planter aristocracy, he developed an appreciation for horses. He bought some horses at the sale of houses confiscated from loyalists (those loyal to the King and Great Britain) at Cross Creek.
· Although we have no record that Lane raised a musket during political upheaval, people of the era supplemented their diet with hunting and fishing. In 1770, Joel Lane introduced legislation to ban hunting at night with torches and to restrict fishing practices.  Settlers were hunting for sustenance, but he did not believe in unsportsmanlike behavior.  
· Joel Lane’s ancestry (Lane family chart in room): Lane’s family had been in the colonies well over 100 years by the time he was born.  He was a fourth generation colonist.  The family was well established and, for their time and place, they were wealthy.  Joel Lane and his generation moved westward in search of their own fertile lands and fortunes.  Continuing the tradition, several of his children pushed the limits of their frontiers when they moved to Tennessee and beyond the Mississippi in subsequent generations.  (Five of the boys moved to Tennessee.) There are descendants and relatives of Joel Lane throughout the country, as far west as California, and Oregon and south to Georgia.  

· Bathing (excerpted from http://www.history.org/foundation/journal/Autumn00/bathe.cfm?showSite=mobile 2015.10.20.): 
In America's colonial days, getting clean meant sponging off, usually just face and hands. A few of the better homes furnished bedrooms with chinaware washbasins and pitchers. Servants supplied the water, heated in the kitchen or laundry, and laid out clean shifts for the ladies and fresh dress shirts for the gentlemen. A shirt concealed the sweat that often flowed beneath it and kept it from staining the elegant silk or velvet waistcoat and frock coat that went over it. If you were a wealthy man, you might have fifty shirts. Your lady, of course, didn't sweat. She merely glowed.

If you insisted on thoroughly washing, a wooden tub would do a fine job. But it required hard work. It had to be lugged from the laundry house, or wherever it was stored, and filled with water, hoisted from the well, that had to be warmed. Something had to be found to use as a towel. And where in the world did the homemade soap get to? With all this ado, a semblance of privacy had to be preserved during the adventure. So a good, soaking bath was a luxury of only the well served, and few of them tackled the job more than a couple of times a year. Everyone knew that too much bathing would destroy your natural oils and leave you wide open to the ravages of various diseases. Fortunately, that theory has changed 180 degrees since the eighteenth century.

· When the tour is for adults: I’d like to end the tour back in the Visitors Center where we will come forward in time. 
VISITORS CENTER

· As you know, Joel Lane helped establish Raleigh on part of his plantation. The area was called Wake Court House between 1771 and 1792. The map showing the original survey of the land for the city shows a small map of Wake Court House with four buildings depicted: possibly Lane’s house, the court house, the gaol (18th century spelling , pronounced jail), and the clerk’s office. So it was still a very rural area. 

· The survey and city plan were drawn by William Christmas, an Englishman. Christmas planned for the Capitol to be not in the exact center of the city, but on the highest point of land, a site named Union Square.   One must walk up steps to reach the Capitol; it is elevated about 8’ above the surrounding area, making it look a little larger than it is. Our current Capitol is the 2nd.  The first, made of brick and stucco, burned in 1831 so the new one was built of locally quarried granite, which is fireproof. 

· Four squares were planned to flank the capital. Two still exist on the south end: Moore and Nash Squares.  The ones on the north end house the Governor’s Mansion and a parking lot, but the original boundary streets remain: North, South, East, and West. Other streets were named for former seats of government, the commissioners themselves, the nine judicial districts, and Joel Lane.  
· Raleigh and Washington, DC, are two of the few capital cities in the country that were founded specifically to serve as capitals.  Most state capitals were cities that became capitals, not created to be the capital.  
· Today the city to encompasses the entire plantation. All that is left of the original plantation is our small part of a city block, approximately 1/3 of an acre.  
· There is documentary evidence of outbuildings on Lane’s plantation, so there is literally history under our feet everywhere in this neighborhood.  Pottery sherds and hand-made nails wash up out of the soil after a heavy rain.  When digging takes place in the neighborhood, we ask the workmen to look for artifacts.

· The house was moved in 1912 from its original location across Saint Mary’s Street from the Visitors Center.  The owner of that lot wanted to build a larger house; the original lot was more desirable than the current one since it was at the crest of the hill. 

· In 1927, the Colonial Dames purchased the house with the aim of preserving it. In 1969, it was clear that it needed major repairs.  The Dames applied for grants from the State of NC, and with the grants came architectural historians from Archives and History in the Dept. of Cultural Resources to see that the repairs were properly carried out.  It soon became obvious that the required repairs were so extensive that only a full restoration would work.  The original estimates for the restoration came to $25,000 and 3 years’ time.  In the end, it took 6 years and $100,000—a huge accomplishment for a group of about 60 women. The house opened to the public in 1976.

· The VC was probably originally a one-room building, possibly an office or school room, that was built about 1840 and added to the side of JL’s house before 1880. (Point to drawing over the door into the VC kitchen.) After JL’s house was moved, the wing was moved to the rear of the building since the new lot was narrower than the old, and the wing would not fit on the side.  

· Private landowners are not required to hire archaeologists or save artifacts unless they receive funds from by the federal government, so we must conduct delicate negotiations with them to obtain permission to dig on their land.  We don’t have the funds to pay archaeologists, so we have to turn to the State or City for help. 

· In 1969, Albert Gooch was driving down Boylan Avenue and saw that the Victorian house near the corner of Morgan Street that he had grown up in was being torn down.  He went to Archives and History to ask them to stop the demolition; his family believed that the Lanes were buried under the house.  To bolster his claim, he stated that he recalled playing under the porch as a child and remembered a mound about the size of a coffin there. A&H sent some archaeologists, and they found 9 graves, seven adults and two infants. From the buttons, two were confirmed as males; the gender of the rest was indeterminate. From the size of the graves, two were children.
· The artifacts in the frame are from the 1969 archaeological dig in the cemetery near the original site of the house. They have been dated to the early 1800s, too late for Joel Lane and his wives. The bones were exhumed and re-buried at City Cemetery in 1973.  A parking lot for Moonlight Pizza now covers the original burial sites. However, recent information suggests that the cemetery may have extended several hundred feet east of the plot that was excavated, so more graves may be discovered in future years. 
· Another excavation was done in 1973 at the original site of Lane’s house.  One of the participants has stated that the house had a cellar accessible from the exterior. There is a small box of artifacts in the Archaeology Lab at Archives and History, which closed as of July 1, 2011 due to budget cuts. We are still waiting to see what was discovered.
·  In 2006, the bus station at the corner of Boylan and Hargett was torn down to make room for Bloomsbury Estates condominiums. Tradition states that the original Wake Court House (the one that Joel Lane attended) was on that site.  A dig was conducted there, and archaeologists expected to find post holes or building foundations on the lot but did not.  So we have not proved that the Courthouse was there, but we have not proved that it wasn’t there either. 
· When the footings for our new restroom were dug in the spring of 2010, the workmen found two pottery sherds (in baggie on Curator’s desk) and many other artifacts. 
· Information gained in 2011 indicates that the original location of Joel Lane’s house was directly across from the front door of the Visitors Center, just to the southwest of the white brick building with the red awning. 
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